1983

**Jack Allen Olson, et al. v. Salt Lake City School District, et. al. :  
Memorandum Of Defendants-Appellants In Support of their  
Appeal**

STATEMENT OF POINTS

- I. THE TWO MILL LEVIES MADE BY THE DISTRICT FOR THE MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS BUDGET ARE SEPARATELY AUTHORIZED.

The state requires a levy of 23.25 mills, and the voters have directed a levy of 9 mills, both of which levies were essential to prevent the District from incurring an unlawful deficit.

- II. THERE WAS NO ILLEGAL MILL LEVY

The District did not exceed the limits of the two mill levies and did not collect or receive excess amounts of tax money. Courts are not permitted to enjoin taxes, and their injunctive power should not be used in an effort to do indirectly that which cannot be done directly.

- III. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION RESTS ON ERRONEOUS ASSUMPTIONS.

The trial court incorrectly concluded that an accounting method (which is designed for the appropriation of uncertain revenues) was a funded reserve, that the so-called reserve was equivalent to unexpended fund balances and that a reserve of that sort would not be proper, even though there are no statutory provisions requiring school districts to maintain only a single, exclusive reserve. (See U.C.A. §53-20-2)

1. The Budget Process.

The budgeting process requires estimates to be made and involves discretion. Both revenue and expenditures involve unpredictable events which cannot be known when the budget is adopted before the beginning of the coming school year. Provisions must be made to meet the needs and uncertainties of budgeting.

2. The Use of the Contingency Appropriations Accounts 14

Knowing that some revenues can only be hoped for but not relied upon to materialize, the District uses the Contingency Appropriations Account to appropriate uncertain revenue. As the year progresses, if those revenues do in fact come in, then the District will commit them. It will not spend against them until it is certain they are there, even though the District has many meritorious programs which could use such funds.

3. The Undistributed Reserve 19

Section 53-20-2 Authorizes districts to create an undistributed reserve (in specified amounts) which cannot be used in the negotiation or settlement of contract salaries. The purpose of the limitation is to isolate some revenue for the salary negotiation and settlement process.

4. The Trial Court Has Ignored the Statutory Limits on the Undistributed Reserve in U.C.A. §52-20-2. 21

If the undistributed reserve can (as the trial court allowed) be used for contract salaries once they are settled, then that reserve is no longer isolated from the salary bargaining process. Those negotiating for salaries will know that the District has more funds available; they can force their release and require their use for their benefit.

5. The Unexpended Fund Balances 23

Unexpended fund balances are cash and inventory which have not been expended and are thus still available at the end of the budget year. The law provides for their carry-over to the next year's budget. They are not reserves or excessive

collection of revenue; they occur in the fortunate circumstance that costs and expenditures fell below estimates or that revenue exceeded expectations.

6. The Respondents' Admissions.

The Respondents have admitted all the crucial points about budgeting and the budgeting process; they have in fact admitted their case away.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT CONFUSED ITS TERMS AND RELIED ON EXTRA-RECORD MATERIAL

1. Since There Is No Exclusive Reserve, Reserves Cannot Be Distinguished by the Trial Court.
2. The Court Went Outside the Record In Making Its Decision.
3. The Contingency Appropriations Account Is Not Secretive or Mysterious

The trial court, confusing terms and misconstruing a statutory provision, ignored the factual record and relied on material outside the record in reaching its conclusions. It failed to understand the use of accounting methods, and thus incorrectly thought them unavailable for scrutiny.

V. THE REMEDY GRANTED BY THE TRIAL COURT IS IMPROPER AND INAPPROPRIATE.

1. Attempts to Enjoin Taxation.

By law, courts cannot enjoin taxes; they should not exercise their equitable powers in such a way as to accomplish the

same result in other ways, especially when the relief they grant is ineffective and meaningless.

- VI. COURTS SHOULD NOT MANDATE ACCOUNTING OR BUDGETING METHODS FOR THE DISTRICT. 40

Budgeting is an exercise of discretion; the courts should not try to mandate particular budget accounts in the absence of ministerial duty or illegality.

- VII. SCHOOL BOARD DECISIONS SHOULD BE UPHELD UNLESS THERE IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION OR CLEAR ILLEGALITY. 43

There is no abuse of discretion and no reason to require the Appellants to use one account and refrain from using another. There is no justification whatsoever for the use of the injunctive power of the trial court.

- VIII. THE CREDIT RATING OF THE DISTRICT IS PLACED AT RISK BY THE INCORRECT DETERMINATION OF THE TRIAL COURT 45

An improper and incorrect exercise of the trial court's injunctive power should not be permitted to jeopardize the District's favorable credit rating.

Barry Bushnell  
M. Darlynn Hinman  
KIRTON, McCONKIE & BUSHNELL  
Attorneys for Salt Lake City  
School District, Salt Lake  
City School Board,  
School Board Members,  
Superintendent and Clerk  
330 South Third East  
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111  
Telephone (801) 521-3680

---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE  
STATE OF UTAH

---

JACK ALLEN OLSON, et al., :  
 :  
 : Plaintiffs-Respondents, :  
 :  
 vs. : Supreme Court No. 19055  
 :  
 : SALT LAKE CITY SCHOOL : (Civil No. C-81-5668)  
 : DISTRICT, et al., :  
 :  
 : Defendants-Appellants. :  
 :

---

MEMORANDUM OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS  
IN SUPPORT OF THEIR APPEAL

---

NATURE OF THE CASE

The case involves claims that the defendants-appellants assessed the mill levy at too high a rate, incurring unexpended funds so that those few taxpayers who paid under protest should receive a refund; that the defendants-appellants have created an illegal reserve prohibited by U.C.A. §53-20-2 which allegedly creates an exclusive reserve; and that use of the undistributed balance authorized by U.C.A. §53-20-2 should be mandated.

### DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

The lower court granted injunctive relief to prohibit the use of the particular accounting method, the "Contingency Appropriations Account" (referred to as Item 0210.99 in the budget) and ordered that expenditures be made from undistributed reserve. The lower court reserved until after an appeal on the injunctive relief the amount, if any, of a tax refund.

### NATURE OF THE RELIEF SOUGHT

The defendants-appellants request that this Court dissolve the permanent injunction and declare that they could in the past and may in the future use the contingency appropriations account. They also seek declarations 1) that the mill levy was proper, 2) that the undistributed reserve may not be used in the payment of contract salaries, even after salary negotiations have been completed and salaries have been settled for the forthcoming school term, and 3) that the undistributed reserve is not an exclusive reserve.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### 1. The Plaintiffs

The plaintiffs-respondents (the "Respondents") are individual property owners or business and other entities who own property in the Salt Lake City School District (the "District"). They paid their property taxes for 1981-82 under protest. Many of the respondents are members of the Utah Taxpayers Association (the "UTA"), which prepared the suit and

solicited both plaintiffs and contributions to support the suit. (Record ["R."] 297, 298) Lead plaintiff Jack Allen Olson ("Olson") is the executive vice president of the UTA; Howard Stephenson ("Stephenson") is a research analyst for U.T.A. (Stephenson's name was transcribed "Stevenson" at his deposition.) (Olson Deposition ["Olson:"] 3; Stevenson Deposition ["Steph."] 3)

## 2. The Allegations

The Respondents allege that the Board of Education (the "Board") and the District have set the mill levy too high for fiscal year 1981-82 and have created an unlawful reserve account in derogation of U.C.A. §53-20-2, which authorizes school districts to create an undistributed reserve. The Respondents allege that unexpended fund balances evidence the over-collection of tax revenue from the mill levies. They sought injunctive relief to prevent use of the Contingency Appropriations Account in the budget and to compel the Respondents to use the undistributed reserve. They also seek a refund of the alleged over-collections in amounts which have not been determined by the trial court.

## 3. The Trial and the Record.

By stipulation, the trial court decided the case on the admitted papers in the record, including deposition transcripts, documents and exhibits. No live testimony was presented to the trial court. That court permitted its ruling on the injunctive relief to be appealed as a final order.

#### 4. Definition of Terms

##### a. Reserve

A reserve is a funded account held in the ready to meet expenses which are frequently unpredictable. Thus, for example, the District has been a self-insurer for health, accident and unemployment insurance. (See R. 266, 237 [backs], 336, Goldsberry Deposition ["Golds."] 101) Since no one can predict what accidents will occur during the forthcoming year or the costs of the accidents which do happen, the budget is designed to set up a reserve available to cover accidents if they occur.

##### b. Undistributed Reserve

The undistributed reserve is a funded reserve authorized by U.C.A. §53-20-2 which can be used for limited contingencies. It is undistributed in the sense that it is not allocated to a particular item or function of the budget, but may be used in any area permitted by the statute. U.C.A. §53-20-2 provides that the undistributed reserve:

"may not be used in negotiation or settlement of contract salaries for school district employees."

The District has followed this mandate and has never at any time used any part of its undistributed reserve for contract salaries. Contract salaries are primarily the negotiated, contract salaries for teachers.

The undistributed reserve is limited by statute to a maximum of 5% of a school district's maintenance and operation ("M. & O.") budget; the amount permitted each district is determined by the State Superintendent of Public Instruction (the "State Superintendent"). U.C.A. §53-20-2. That figure has been set at 1-1/2% of the M. & O. budget for Salt Lake.

c. The Contingency Appropriations Account.

The budget account in question is a designated account in the Instruction part of the District's budget. Its sub-number and title have varied somewhat during the years covered by the complaint. In 1980-81 it was an account assigned the number 0210.99 (the "Contingency Appropriations Account"). Regardless of its subnumber or name, its function has been the same each year. (R. 484 at 80)

The Contingency Appropriations Account (sometimes referred to as the Line Item in the Record) represents an accounting method used by the District to facilitate handling of uncertain revenues. Uncertain revenues are appropriated through the Contingency Appropriations Account, but the District does not commit them to particular programs and accounts until the funds are actually received. When and if those revenues do materialize, they are redistributed to specific needy accounts in the budget, most frequently within the Instruction area of the budget (where contract salaries are handled). As an example of the uncertain revenue, the District may anticipate

receipt of a particular type of federal grant, but until the grant is actually made and the funds are present, the Appellants have been unwilling to spend against it. The money is hoped for but not certain; therefore, it is not committed until it is actually in hand. The Contingency Appropriations Account permits the District to plan for the grant (taking the optimistic view that it will materialize). (R. 484 at 80, 80-1)

d. Unexpended Fund Balances

By law, a school district's budget must be prepared in June, prior to the forthcoming school year. The budget consists of estimates of revenues and expenditures. U.C.A. §§53-20-1, 53-20-2, 53-7-9. As the school or fiscal year unfolds, the budget figures may be revised to account for actual events. (See R. 19-20, 31-36) For each of the years mentioned by the complaint, the District's initial budget planned for estimated expenditures to equal estimated revenues. (R. 484 at 51, 16-62, 65, 67) As those years developed, there were some expenditures which did not prove to be as large as estimated, and some accounts showed revenue exceeding costs at year-end. Such left over revenue is called an unexpended fund balance or unexpended funds. The unexpended fund balances may consist of cash or inventory.

Section 53-20-2 of the U.C.A. provides, in part, that

All unexpended balances of appropriations at the end of the fiscal year shall revert to the funds from which they were appropriated and shall be set up as revenue in the budget of the following year.

In other words, the law has recognized that unexpended funds may be incurred and has provided for their carry-over to the next fiscal year. In 1981-82, the District allegedly had an unexpended fund balance of approximately \$2.8 million (unaudited figure) consisting of cash and inventory. (R. 100) The audited figure for school fiscal year 1981-82 was \$1,078,909, less than half the amount alleged by the Respondents. (R. 231)

It shall be unlawful for any board of education to make any appropriation in excess of the estimated expendable revenue, including undistributed reserves, for the ensuing fiscal year. U.C.A. §53-20-2.

The Respondents contend that the fact that the District has year-end fund balances demonstrates two things: first that the mill levies set by the District have been too high and have resulted in collection of too much money (which the plaintiffs seek to be refunded) and second, that the unexpended fund balances are a hidden or secret reserve kept in the Contingency Appropriations Account in derogation of the provisions of U.C.A. §53-20-2. Analysis demonstrates that these contentions are totally lacking in merit.

THE TWO MILL LEVIES MADE BY THE DISTRICT FOR THE MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS BUDGET ARE SEPARATELY AUTHORIZED.

The District levied only two mill levies. One is mandated by the State and the other is directed by the voters of the District. U.C.A. §§53-7-9, 53-7-16. Neither of these mill levies is part of the budgeting process.

The budget provisions in U.C.A. §53-20-2 do not authorize any tax levy; the levies are separately mandated. Section 53-7-18 defines the minimum school program to include a basic, mandatory levy of 23.25 mills.

In order to qualify for receipt of the state contribution toward the basic program and as its contribution toward its costs of said basic program, each school district shall impose a minimum basic tax levy of 23.25 mills. U.C.A. §53-7-18.

The second levy is the "voted leeway" which is authorized by the voters in the district. The voted leeway levy is now nine mills for the District. U.C.A. §53-7-19. The Code specifically excludes these two levies from being determined by reference to budget estimates. Since these were the only two levies in the District, there is no way that the Respondents can be entitled to a refund because of an allegedly excessive collection or levy.

The District by state law must make the first levy; it has a voter mandate to assess up to nine mills on the second levy. So long as it operates within the legal limits of the mill levies, it cannot collect excessive revenue. State law and the voters in the District have authorized its actions; regardless of the budget estimates, the full legal authority is there and has never been exceeded by the District.

Taxpayers dissatisfied by the leeway level may initiate an election to modify or decrease the leeway upon petition. Thus, the law has already provided the remedy to a taxpayer.

alleges that the leeway has been set at too great a level. Taxpayers have their legal remedy and the power to control the leeway. Their remedy is not a suit to collect alleged over-payments or to mandate budget processes. So long as collections of taxes fall within the limits of the state mandated levy and the voter-directed leeway, there can be no illegal mill levy subject to challenge by Respondents.

The Respondents thus have no reason to sue, and no claim which is cognizable in a court of law. Their complaints about the mill levy set by the Board under the leeway approved by their fellow taxpayers and property owners are not properly addressed to the courts of this state; they should be addressed to the voters by petition and through the electoral process. An injunction should not replace the electoral process or the law.

## II. THERE WAS NO ILLEGAL MILL LEVY.

The Respondents have asserted that the District needed only \$22,247,476 from property tax revenue to cover the M. & O. budget for fiscal 1981-82. This figure is \$2,774,709 less than the \$25,002,185 which was certified by the Board. Both the Respondents' claim and the amounts they use are incorrect.

Had the Board accepted the Respondents' figures in setting the mill levy for 1981-82, and had the Board assessed a higher mill levy amount, the District would have incurred an

illegal deficit of \$1,695,800. By law, school districts may not incur a deficit. U.C.A. §53-20-2. Thus, in estimating the budget for the next school year, the District must be exact to the penny (an almost impossible task, given the fact that the budget is a plan for events which have not yet occurred) or else come out ahead; it must not come out behind. As shown by the comparative revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for fiscal years ending in 1981 and in 1982, the revenue raised through property taxes (based on the mill levy) and from other sources (interest on investments, other local revenue, state funds, federal revenue) for 1981-82 fell short of the year's expenditures by almost \$350,000. The District fortunately had for use an unexpended fund balance from the previous year to avoid a deficit. (R. 244) The same was true for 1980-81 when expenditures exceeded tax and other revenues by almost \$2.5 million. A lower assessment would have caused a deficit. (R. 244) The District used all of the money raised by the tax levy and needed more money on top of that. Thus, the contention of the Respondents that there was an overly large levy and an excessive collection of tax revenue is totally inaccurate; the tax revenue was all used. At the proposed lower levy, the District would have incurred an <sup>unavoidable</sup> deficit. The Appellants did not over-tax. The courts should not attempt to tamper with the mandated and authorized levies required for and essential to the school programs.

III. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION RESTS  
ON ERRONEOUS ASSUMPTIONS.

The Respondents have based their case on erroneous assumptions, incorrectly equating three separate and distinct things and concocting a theory of statutory interpretation to justify their claims. They have misinterpreted the Contingency Appropriations Account and unexpended fund balances as being reserves. The Respondents have next argued that by law the District may have only one reserve, the undistributed reserve authorized by U.C.A. §53-20-2. Since there are statutory limitations on the use of that reserve (that it cannot be used in the negotiation and settlement of contract salaries), they have reinterpreted this statutory limit to mean that the undistributed reserve can be spent on such salaries once negotiations end. The trial court accepted most of these notions, but it did not find the undistributed reserve to be exclusive. In its opinion, some reserves are good, although not spelled out by statute, but the Contingency Appropriations Account is not a good or lawful reserve. These conclusions misapprehend the nature of the budget process, misuse terms and rest on definitions and analysis which are incorrect and unsupported. Some background is necessary to explore the problem.

I. The Budget Process.

The school districts in this state use accrual method accounting. A budget, which is, by statutory definition, a series of estimates, (U.C.A. § 53-7-9) is adopted in June,

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