1984

**Jack Allen Olson, et al. v. Salt Lake City School District, et. al. :  
Brief of Respondents**

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

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THE LINE ITEM AT ISSUE  
TO CONSTITUTE A RESERVE FOR  
CONTINGENCIES IN EXCESS OF THE LIMITATIONS  
IMPOSED BY SECTION 53-20-2.

In reviewing a trial court's findings, this Court will not substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court. Hidden Meadows Development Co. v. Mills, 590 P.2d 1244, 1250 (Utah 1979). Rather, this Court

must consider all evidence in the light most favorable to the trial court's findings of fact. Those findings are entitled to a presumption of correctness and may not be overturned so long as they are supported by substantial evidence in the record.

Piacitelli v. Southern Utah State College, 636 P.2d 1063, 1067 (Utah 1981).

Appellants submit that the trial court erred in concluding that the line item at issue constituted a reserve for contingencies similar to that authorized and limited by Section 53-20-2. Assuming that this Court might uphold the trial court's finding, appellants next assert that the statute should not be construed to render that reserve exclusive.

In support of their initial claim, appellants seek to distinguish the line item reserve from the statutory undistributed reserve by claiming the line item merely to have been an accounting method "used by the District to facilitate handling of uncertain revenues." (See Appellants' Brief at 5). Unlike

of uncertain revenues." (See Appellants' Brief at 5). Until the statutory undistributed reserve which is a funded reserve appellants allege the line item reserve to have constituted only an accounting device enabling the School District to plan for uncertain revenues with the optimistic assumption that they would ultimately materialize.

The trial court, however, rejected appellants' characterization of the line item at issue upon a review of the evidence adduced for trial. Specifically, the trial court found:

Each fiscal year from fiscal year 1976-77 through 1981-82, defendants have adopted a budget for the Salt Lake City School District containing a reserve, which reserve has been used to meet unexpected contingency expenditures not otherwise provided for by specific accounts in the budget of the Salt Lake City School District, which reserve has been in addition to that reserve authorized by Section 53-20-2, Utah Code Ann., and which reserve has been codified in the budget of the Salt Lake City School District in the maintenance and operation fund under the instructional category. . . .

(Findings at R. 469). Thus, the trial court concluded that the line item, in fact, constituted a funded reserve for contingencies and not merely an accounting method.

Appellants, in reasserting their claim that the line item at issue was not a funded reserve, can claim for support only the deposition testimony of Mr. W. Gary Harmer, the School District's Clerk Treasurer and a defendant in this action. Resort to the record as a whole clearly indicates that the line

items were intended to function as a reserve to meet contingencies. That the reserves were funded is further evident from the fact that appellants annually anticipated the unexpended portions of the line items to revert to the year-end balance of the School District's maintenance and operations budget.

Appellants cannot dispute that the line item reserves were utilized to cover contingencies and deficiencies in other line items. Mr. Harmer's own affidavit testimony and accompanying exhibits indicate that appellants employed the reserves to meet numerous contingencies, susceptible to no uniform classification. (See Harmer Aff., Exs. D, E, F and G at R. 243-58). Notwithstanding the suggestions in appellants' brief, those expenditures generally were not for contract salaries or for services normally funded by categorical grants. (See id.).

Significantly, appellants have not and cannot explain away the candid admissions of members of the School Board and its staff regarding the line item reserve which were relied upon by the trial court in making his finding. In a June 20, 1978, meeting of the School Board, Mr. Harmer explained the School District's procedure for the maintenance of the line item reserve:

Mr. Harmer: Mr. Boren made reference to that fact earlier in this teacher salary account difference. And the thing that causes that variance that he was referring to there is the fund balance which we

had budgeted but had not spent and in one year, it was in the original budget but not in the revised budget because it pulled out then and comes out in the ending fund balance and there is a chunk of one-time money there that we have not spent. We have been reluctant to build into programs. . . .

(Plaintiffs' Ex. 7). In other words, the School District maintained the reserve by listing it as a expenditure in its annual original budget, adopted in June, and then pulled out all unexpended funds from its revised budget, prepared subsequently during the fiscal year, placing those funds in its year-end fund balance. The purpose underlying the maintenance of the reserve account was succinctly stated by Board member John Crawford:

Mr. Crawford: When I came to this Board, the School Board was in a terrible financial condition. . . . One of the purposes I have firmly set myself to as long as I sit on the Board is that this School District will never again run in a position where they were in violation of the law because we were not operating this District in a . . . a manner where we could provide the necessary educational opportunities. . . . One of the ways of doing that is make sure that build into the budget some reserve to take care of unexpected happenings or in the time when things would happen our special programs would be needed that we could take care of that.

(Id.)

At the beginning of the 1978-79 fiscal year, the School Board considered reducing its mill levy. The discussions which ensued concerning this possibility shed further light on the line item reserve. In a July 12, 1978 memorandum prepared for the Board, Mr. Harmer discussed the Board's options:

If the budget projections are accurate, we will end 1978-79 with an accumulated fund balance of \$2,596,300. A one-mill reduction in the levy would reduce this amount by \$771,428, assuming that 98% of the taxes assessed will be collected. If the Board adopts this alternative, the District would end 1978-79 with an accumulated fund balance of \$1,824,872.

(Plaintiffs' Ex. 1). The year-end balance projected by Mr. Harmer closely approximates the \$2,617,691 line item reserve budgeted for fiscal year 1978-79. (See Plaintiffs' Ex. 11). That Mr. Harmer spoke with some certainty with respect to the anticipated year-end fund balance clearly belies any claim that the line item was a mechanism for budgeting uncertain revenues. Rather, the revenues were deemed to be available for the School District's use and were not tentatively allocated to other line items.

This conclusion is strengthened by the discussion at the Board's July 18, 1978 meeting where the memorandum was presented. At that meeting, Superintendent M. Donald Thomas observed: "[T]he recommendation on the alternatives that Gary

is recommending is the one mill reduction which would reduce the fund balance and that would not cut out any programs and now if they went beyond that they would have to cut into programs." (Plaintiffs' Ex. 8). Later in that same meeting, the line item reserve was discussed by Board member M. Richard Maxfield and Mr. Harmer:

Maxfield: One other item. Gary can best answer this but, we have a fund balance in instruction. It is my understanding, that the guidelines suggest having that in a line item undistributed reserve. Is there a reason we don't use that particular classification rather than confusing the issue by putting it in instruction?

Harmer: Well, we have an undistributed reserve and always have had, but if you have . . . we only have two choices really, and that is, put it in instruction or put it in somewhere or build into programs. Build, . . . plan to spend it. You don't, it is just a matter of, taking, there is no other way to handle it . . . You can't put any more into undistributed reserve than what we have in undistributed reserve.

Maxfield: Oh, you can't?

Harmer: No.

Thomas: We have a maximum.

Harmer: We are not quite, we are not . . .

Maxfield: I thought there was a guideline but no maximum.



Harmer: No, there is a maximum, and well, we are maybe, likely could go \$50,000 higher or something like that. Our budget, the maximum is 5% of your total budget, we are underneath 5% right now, but only about \$50,000, or something like that. Undistributed reserve is no answer as far as having that fund balance.

Maxfield: No, it is just that matter clarifies for someone who doesn't know that looks at the budget would be confused with that.

Harmer: Of course we have only had this, we have had this for about the last, we had started building this here about five years ago, four years ago and each year it has been in the same place. The only problem is that when you compare, like if you compare next year's budget to this year's actual expenditures, that distorts it, the amount that we don't really plan to spend.

(Id. (emphasis added)).

The line item was recognized by the School Board and its staff to constitute a reserve whose funds, if unexpended, would be carried forward to the next fiscal year. Further, this reserve was placed in the instructional budget, since appellants recognized that it could not be included in the statutory undistributed reserve without violating the limitations imposed thereon. It cannot credibly be claimed that the line item at issue was unfunded; the statements of the School Board members and its staff indicate that appellants felt no

uncertainty whatsoever that revenues were available to expend funds from the line item should the need arise.

In a May 15, 1979, meeting of the School Board, for example, Mr. Harmer again addressed the line item at issue:

The balance of it is budgeted in next year's budget. It would be my opinion that we would, could possibly end next year with \$1.7 million of that left over.

(Plaintiffs' Ex. 9). This projected surplus of \$1.7 million again is consistent with the amount budgeted for the line item reserve for fiscal year 1979-80, \$1,776,961. (See Plaintiffs' Ex. 11).

Similarly, in a letter dated July 17, 1981, then School Board Member Wayne Evans stated:

[A]s part of our budget for 1981-82, we are currently projecting a surplus of \$2.774 million.

As you see, we do feel the need to maintain a reserve, but we are trying to whittle it down so that it will eventually fall in the \$1.5 to 2.0 million range.

(Plaintiffs' Ex. 4). The "surplus" or "reserve" identified by Mr. Evans again corresponds closely to the line item reserve budgeted for the 1981-82 fiscal year, \$2,774,709. (See Plaintiffs' Ex. 25). That budgeted amount was again addressed in a June 16, 1981 public hearing on the adoption of the 1981-82 fiscal year budget. During that meeting, the following exchange between Board Member Tab Uno and Mr. Harmer occurred:

Q: Where is 210.99 in terms of the original tentative budget?

A: It shows an estimated budget which is done from the previous year. In the revised budget we also clear that out and it goes back to fund balance. You have to handle this as an expenditure and the contingency reserve is the only reserve you have. . . .

(Plaintiffs' Ex. 3).

In sum, the evidence adduced for trial clearly dispels any illusion that the line item at issue was merely an accounting device intended to facilitate the budgeting of uncertain revenues. The School Board and its staff viewed the line item to be a funded reserve account available for contingencies and whose surplus would carry over to each new fiscal year.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup>The disingenuousness of appellants' characterization of the line item reserve is evident in appellants' claim that affirmance of the trial court will result in a reduction of that School District's bond rating. If the line item at issue merely constituted an accounting device and did not represent a funded reserve, its discontinuance could not provide the basis for a reduction in the School District's rating. That appellants are concerned that their rating may be affected indicates that the trial court properly concluded the line item reserve to be funded.

The evidence in the record further indicates that appellants recognized this reserve account to be distinct from the statutory undistributed reserve, limited to 1.5% of the School District's maintenance and operations budget. The record alone, therefore, militates for an affirmance of the trial court's finding that the line item at issue as a contingency reserve.

## II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT THE SCHOOL DISTRICT'S MAINTENANCE OF THE LINE ITEM CONTRAVENED THE BUDGETARY PROCEDURES PRESCRIBED BY SECTION 53-20-2.

A. The Legislative History of Section 53-20-2 and Cardinal Rules of Statutory Construction Support the Trial Court's Ruling.

Utah Code Ann. § 53-20-2 provides, in pertinent part, that:

The district shall be authorized to adopt a budget containing an amount known as the undistributed reserve. This reserve shall not exceed 5% of the maintenance and operation budget adopted by the Board of Education in accordance with a scale developed by the State Board of Education based upon the size of the budget of the school district. Appropriations may be made from the undistributed reserve to an expenditure classification in the maintenance and operation budget of the district by resolution adopted by a majority vote of the Board of Education setting forth the reasons for the appropriations of the reserve or any portion thereof and filed with the State Board of Education and the State Auditor. The undistributed reserves may not be used in negotiation or settlement of contract salaries for school district employees.

Based upon that statutory provision, the trial court concluded:

Defendants may, pursuant to Section 53-20-2 Utah Code Ann., adopt a budget for the Salt Lake City School District containing an amount known as the undistributed reserve for unexpected contingency expenditures not otherwise provided for by specific accounts in the budget.

Defendants are limited to including in the budget of the Salt Lake City School District as a reserve to meet unexpected contingency expenditures not otherwise provided for by specific accounts in the budget only that undistributed reserve provided for in Section 53-20-2, Utah Code Ann.

Defendants have exceeded their statutory authority in adopting from fiscal years 1976-77 through 1981-82 budgets for the Salt Lake School District containing a reserve which has been used to meet unexpected contingency expenditures not otherwise provided for by specific accounts in the budget and which reserve has been in addition to that reserve authorized by Section 53-20-2, Utah Code Ann.

(Findings at R. 470-71.)

Appellants urge that the trial court erred in construing the statute to preclude the School District's maintenance of the line item reserve, asserting that neither the statute's legislative history nor its express terms bar the maintenance of an additional reserve to meet contingencies not otherwise provided for by specific accounts. Reference to the statute's history and application of cardinal rules of statutory construction, however, vitiate this claim.

Discussions in the Utah State Senate prior to the measure's enactment indicate that its proponents desired to provide some mechanism within school district budgets to meet contingencies. Senator MacFarlane, who co-sponsored one of the bills containing the enactment, stated:

The reason I guess Senator Preece is just that sometimes emergencies arise, conditions arise which cannot be predicted far ahead of time. I just think of our district for example not too long ago . . . We had two boilers go out in the district. . . . This meant that they had to take money from other sources of the budget and put it into this M+O fund. . . . Also . . . there have been cases in the state in the not too far past where they have been epidemics hit districts and they have been in real financial trouble because of the average daily attendance then dropping down and of course they have appropriated the money on the basis of that.

\* \* \* \* \*

Now budgets of course you know school district's budgets are prepared in May or earlier - they have to be subject to a public hearing in June usually and then they are for the next year's expenditures and at this time a lot of things such as the set valuation for the district are not completely determined, the amount of federal assistance many times is not determined at that point, in fact, the funding sometimes takes place several months later and the fluctuations that are possible such as attendance -- you know they receive the revenue based on the average daily attendance and if there is an epidemic that hits a district then average daily attendance can drop significantly and that can mean a significant drop of revenue and so they need to carry a reserve to meet such circumstances as that.

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